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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 

CASE NO. 6:25-cv-1737 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLINI, 
a/k/a Fernando Adrian Moio, 
a/k/a Fernando Adrian Moio Bartollini, 

COMPLAINT TO REVOKE 
NATURALIZATION 

Defendant. 
/ 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The United States of America brings this civil action against Defendant Fernando 

Adrian Moio Bartolini, a/k/a Fernando Adrian Moio, a/k/a Fernando Adrian Moio Bartollini 

(“Defendant”) to revoke his naturalization under 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a).  Defendant is a native 

of Argentina who used a fraudulent Cuban identity to adjust status and naturalize as a U.S. 

citizen. 

Defendant was born in Argentina and entered the United States under the Visa 

Waiver Program for Argentinian citizens.  Thereafter, Defendant purchased a fraudulent 

Cuban birth certificate, obtained a fraudulent Cuban passport, and applied for permanent 

resident status in the United States under the Cuban Adjustment Act, claiming that he was a 

native and citizen of Cuba.  In his naturalization proceedings, Defendant continued the false 

assertion that he was born in Cuba, and he denied committing fraud to obtain any 

immigration benefit. 
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After Defendant illegally procured naturalization, he fraudulently obtained a U.S. 

passport, falsely stating on his passport application that he was born in Cuba.  In 2013, 

Defendant was arrested and charged with false statement in application and use of a 

passport, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1542.  When he pleaded guilty, Defendant admitted 

that he was born in Argentina and that he used the fraudulent Cuban documents to adjust 

status to permanent resident and, ultimately, to naturalize as a U.S. citizen. 

Defendant therefore illegally procured his naturalization and, independently, 

procured his naturalization by willfully misrepresented and concealed material facts during 

his naturalization proceedings.  As a  result, the Court must revoke the order admitting 

Defendant to U.S. citizenship and cancel his certificate of naturalization pursuant to 

8 U.S.C. § 1451(a). 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff is the United States of America. 

2. Defendant is a native of Argentina and a naturalized U.S. citizen.  

3. This is an action under 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a) to revoke and set aside the order 

admitting Defendant to U.S. citizenship and to cancel Defendant’s Certificate of 

Naturalization No. 32489275. 

4. The court has subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345 

for a cause of action under 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a). 

5. Venue is proper in this District under 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a) and 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391 because Defendant resides in Orange County, Florida, which is within the 

jurisdiction and venue of this Court. 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

6. The affidavit of Max Duarte, Immigration Officer for the United States 

Citizenship and Immigration Services (“USCIS”) assigned to the Fraud Detection and 

National Security Directorate, an agency with the U.S. Department of Homeland Security 

(“DHS”), showing good cause for this action, as required by 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a), is attached 

as Exhibit A. 

I. Defendant’s Adjustment of Status to Permanent Resident 

7. Defendant was born in Argentina. Argentinian Birth Certificate with 

Certified English Translation, attached as Exhibit B. 

8. On November 18, 2000, Defendant was admitted to the United States as a 

nonimmigrant visitor under the Visa Waiver Program under 8 U.S.C. § 1187(a) with 

authorization to stay in the United States for 90 days or less. 

9. Defendant did not depart the United States before the 90-day deadline under 

8 U.S.C. § 1187(a)(1). 

10. On or about June 2, 2005, Defendant filed a Form I-485, Application to 

Register Permanent Resident or Adjust Status (“first Form I-485”), with U.S. Citizenship 

and Immigration Services (“USCIS”) seeking permanent resident status under the Cuban 

Adjustment Act. First Form I-485, attached as Exhibit C. 

11. Part 1 of the first Form I-485 asked the applicant for his “Country of Birth,” 

and Defendant answered “CUBA.” 

12. On or about May 9, 2005, Defendant signed his first Form I-485 under 

penalty of perjury, certifying that the application and the evidence submitted with it were all 

true and correct. 
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13. On April 20, 2006, a USCIS officer placed Defendant under oath and 

interviewed him on his first Form I-485. 

14. The USCIS officer asked Defendant his country of birth, and Defendant 

answered orally under oath that he was born in Cuba. 

15. On or about April 22, 2006, USCIS denied the first Form I-485, and on May 

5, 2006, USCIS issued a decision indicating that it denied the first Form I-485 because 

Defendant failed to provide sufficient evidence of his alleged Cuban birth and nationality. 

16. On or about October 29, 2006, Defendant filed another Form I-485, 

Application to Register Permanent Resident or Adjust Status (“second Form I-485”), with 

USCIS seeking permanent resident status under the Cuban Adjustment Act.  Second Form I-

485, attached as Exhibit D. 

17. Defendant submitted a putative Cuban birth certificate and a putative Cuban 

passport in support of the second Form I-485, both indicating that he was born in Cuba. 

18. Part 1 of the second Form I-485 asked the applicant his “Country of Birth,” 

and Defendant answered “CUBA.” 

19. Part 1 of the second Form I-485 asked the applicant his “Country of 

Citizenship/Nationality,” and Defendant answered “CUBA.” 

20. Question 10 of Part 3 of the second Form I-485 asked the applicant whether 

he was “under a final order of civil penalty for violating section 274C of the Immigration 

and Nationality Act for use of fraudulent documents or have you, by fraud or willful 

misrepresentation of a material fact, ever sought to procure, or procured, a visa, other 

documentation, entry into the United States or any immigration benefit.” 
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21. Defendant checked the box “No” to answer Question 10 of Part 3 of his 

second Form I-485. 

22. On or about October 11, 2006, Defendant signed his second Form I-485 

under penalty of perjury, certifying that the application and the evidence submitted with it 

were all true and correct. 

23. On July 30, 2007, a USCIS officer placed Defendant under oath and 

interviewed him on his second Form I-485. 

24. The USCIS officer asked Defendant whether he, by fraud or willful 

misrepresentation of a material fact, ever sought to procure, or procured, a visa, other 

documentation, entry into the United States, or any other immigration benefit, and 

Defendant orally answered under oath that he had not, confirming his answer Question 10 of 

Part 3 of his second Form I-485. 

25. On July 30, 2007, USCIS approved Defendant’s second Form I-485 granting 

him permanent resident status retroactive to April 29, 2004. 

II. Defendant’s Naturalization 

26. On or about June 15, 2009, Defendant filed a Form N-400, Application for 

Naturalization (“naturalization application”). Naturalization Application, attached as 

Exhibit E. 

27. Question D of Part 3 of the naturalization application asked the applicant’s 

“Country of Birth.” 

28. Defendant answered “CUBA” in response to Question D of Part 3 of his 

naturalization application. 
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29. Question E of Part 3 of the naturalization application asked the applicant’s 

“Country of Nationality.” 

30. Defendant answered “CUBA” in response to Question E of Part 3 of his 

naturalization application. 

31. Question 23 of Part 10, Section D of the naturalization application asked the 

applicant if he had “ever given false or misleading information to any U.S. government 

official while applying for any immigration benefit or to prevent deportation, exclusion, or 

removal.” 

32. Defendant checked the box “No” to answer Question 23 of Part 10, Section 

D of his naturalization application. 

33. On or about April 24, 2009, Defendant signed his naturalization application 

under penalty of perjury certifying that the application and evidence submitted with it were 

all true and correct. 

34. On September 21, 2009, a USCIS officer placed Defendant under oath and 

interviewed him on his eligibility for naturalization. 

35. The USCIS officer asked Defendant whether he had ever given false or 

misleading information to any U.S. government official while applying for any immigration 

benefit or to prevent deportation, exclusion, or removal, and Defendant answered orally 

under oath that he had not, confirming his “No” answer to Question 23 of Part 10, Section D 

of his naturalization application. 

36. At the conclusion of the interview, Defendant signed the naturalization 

application, again attesting under penalty of perjury that the contents of the application, 

including the six corrections made during the interview, were true and correct. 
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37. At no point during the naturalization process did Defendant disclose that he 

was not a Cuban native or national. 

38. At no point during the naturalization process did Defendant disclose that he 

gave false and misleading information to U.S. government officials while applying for 

adjustment of status. 

39. On September 21, 2009, based on his written application and the oral 

testimony that he provided at his naturalization interview, USCIS approved Defendant’s 

naturalization application. 

40. On September 25, 2009, Defendant took the Oath of Allegiance to the United 

States and was admitted as a U.S. citizen. 

41. On September 25, 2009, USCIS issued Certificate of Naturalization No. 

32489275 to Defendant in the name of Fernando Adrian Moio Bartolini listing Cuba as his 

country of former nationality. Naturalization Certificate, attached as Exhibit F. 

III. Defendant’s Arrest and Prosecution for Passport Fraud 

42. On or about June 12, 2013, Defendant arrived at the Miami International 

Airport aboard a flight from Medellín, Colombia. 

43. A U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) officer interviewed 

Defendant at the Miami International Airport. 

44. Defendant admitted in a sworn statement to CBP that: 

a. he was born in Buenos Aires, Argentina; 

b. he was never a Cuban citizen; 

c. neither his parents nor his grandparents were Cuban citizens; 
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d. “around 2004” he purchased a Cuban birth certificate for “around $5,000.00 

[from] a Cuban Lady in Miami Lakes, Florida;” and 

e. he knew it was illegal to obtain United States residency status with 

fraudulent documents. 

Form I-867A, Record of Sworn Statement in Proceedings under Section 235(b)(1) of the 

Act (June 13, 2013), attached as Exhibit G. 

45. On or about June 27, 2013, Defendant was indicted by a grand jury 

convened by the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida for one 

count of false statement in application and use of a passport, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1542.  Indictment, United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD (S.D. Fla. June 

28, 2013), ECF No. 7, attached as Exhibit H. 

46. Defendant spelled his last name “Moio Bartollini” with two Ls on his U.S. 

passport application, which was the spelling that the U.S. Department of State used on his 

U.S. passport and the spelling that the United States Attorney’s Office used in the 

indictment. 

47. On or about August 1, 2013, Defendant pleaded guilty to the sole count in the 

indictment.  Change of Plea Minutes, United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-

LENARD (S.D. Fla. Aug. 1, 2013), ECF No. 15, attached as Exhibit I. 

48. The Court, being satisfied there was a factual basis for the plea, accepted 

Defendant’s plea of guilty and found Defendant guilty as charged. 

49. With his guilty plea, Defendant signed and submitted to the Court a factual 

proffer explaining how he came to the United States from Argentina, obtained a fraudulent 

Cuban birth certificate and passport, and used those fraudulent documents to obtain 
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permanent resident status and U.S. citizenship.  Factual Proffer, United States v. Bartollini, 

No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD (S.D. Fla. Aug. 1, 2013), ECF No. 17, attached as Exhibit J. 

50. Defendant admitted in the Factual Proffer that: 

a. “he obtained a false Cuban birth certificate in 2004 by paying $5000 to a 

Cuban lady in Miami Lakes;” 

b. “he used that [false Cuban] birth certificate to apply for U.S. residency (LPR 

status);” and 

c. “he falsely stated his birthplace as Cuba throughout the process of acquiring 

his naturalization and his U.S. passport.” 

51. During the change of plea hearing, the court asked and Bartolini answered 

the following: 

THE COURT: Do you understand that as a result of an adjudication in this matter, it 

may result in the loss of your status as a United States citizen and subsequent 

removal from the United States? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

Change of Plea Hr’g Tr. 12:16‒20, United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD 

(S.D. Fla. May 15, 2025), ECF No. 24, attached as Exhibit K. 

52. On August 23, 2013, Defendant was sentenced to time served and one year 

of supervised release for false statement in application and use of a passport, in violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 1542.  Judgment, United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD (S.D. 

Fla. Aug. 23, 2013), ECF No. 23, attached as Exhibit L. 
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GOVERNING LAW 

I. Statutory Prerequisites to the Acquisition of Citizenship through Naturalization 

53. No alien has a right to naturalization “unless all statutory requirements are 

complied with.” United States v. Ginsberg, 243 U.S. 472, 474‒75 (1917). 

54. The Supreme Court has underscored that “[t]here must be strict compliance 

with all the congressionally imposed prerequisites to the acquisition of citizenship.” 

Fedorenko v. United States, 449 U.S. 490, 506 (1981) (“An alien who seeks political rights 

as a member of this Nation can rightfully obtain them only upon the terms and conditions 

specified by Congress.” (quoting Ginsberg, 243 U.S. at 474)). 

55. Among other requirements, Congress mandated that an applicant for 

naturalization must demonstrate that he or she has been lawfully admitted to the United 

States for permanent residence and subsequently resided in this country for at least five 

years before the date of application.  8 U.S.C. §§ 1427(a)(1), 1429. 

56. Congress also mandated that an individual may not naturalize unless that 

person “during all periods referred to in [8 U.S.C. § 1427(a)] has been and still is a person 

of good moral character.”  8 U.S.C. § 1427(a).  

57. The required statutory period for good moral character begins five years 

before the date the applicant files the application for naturalization and continues until the 

applicant takes the Oath of Allegiance and becomes a U.S. citizen. 8 U.S.C. § 1427(a); 

8 C.F.R. § 316.10(a)(1). 

58. Congress has explicitly precluded individuals who give false testimony 

during the statutory period for the purpose of obtaining immigration benefits from being 

able to establish the good moral character necessary to naturalize.  8 U.S.C. § 1101(f)(6). 
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II. The Denaturalization Statute 

59. Recognizing that there are situations where an individual has naturalized 

despite failing to comply with all congressionally imposed prerequisites to the acquisition of 

citizenship or by concealing or misrepresenting facts that are material to the decision on 

whether to grant his or her naturalization application, Congress enacted 8 U.S.C. § 1451. 

60. Under 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a), this Court must revoke an order of naturalization 

and cancel an individual’s Certificate of Naturalization if his or her naturalization was 

either: 

a. illegally procured, or 

b. procured by concealment of a material fact or by willful misrepresentation. 

61. Failure to comply with any of the congressionally imposed prerequisites to 

the acquisition of citizenship through naturalization renders the order granting citizenship 

“illegally procured.” Fedorenko, 449 U.S. at 506. 

62. Naturalization was procured by concealment of a material fact or by willful 

misrepresentation, where: (1) the naturalized citizen misrepresented or concealed some fact 

during the naturalization process; (2) the misrepresentation or concealment was willful; (3) 

the fact was material; and (4) the naturalized citizen procured citizenship as a result of the 

misrepresentation or concealment. Kungys v. United States, 485 U.S. 759, 767 (1988). 

63. Where the government establishes that a defendant’s citizenship was 

procured illegally or by concealment of a material fact or by willful misrepresentation, 

“district courts lack equitable discretion to refrain from entering a judgment of 

denaturalization.” Fedorenko, 449 U.S. at 517. 
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CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I 
ILLEGAL PROCUREMENT OF NATURALIZATION 

(Not Lawfully Admitted for Permanent Residence) 

64. Defendant was not qualified for naturalization because he was never lawfully 

admitted to the United States for permanent residence.  See 8 U.S.C. §§ 1427(a)(1), 1429.  

65. Congress has defined the term “lawfully admitted for permanent residence” 

to mean “the status of having been lawfully accorded the privilege of residing permanently 

in the United States as an immigrant in accordance with the immigration laws.”  8 U.S.C. 

§ 1101(a)(20). 

66. Defendant applied to adjust status as a permanent resident under the Cuban 

Adjustment Act by falsely claiming to be a native and citizen of Cuba. 

67. Defendant was not qualified for permanent resident status under the Cuban 

Adjustment Act because he was not a citizen of Cuba, was not married to a Cuban national, 

and was not the child of Cuban nationals.  Cuban Adjustment Act of 1966, Pub. L. No. 89-

732, 80 Stat. 1161 (1966) (reproduced as a historical note to 8 U.S.C. § 1255). 

68. Defendant also was not qualified for permanent resident status because he was 

inadmissible for seeking to procure adjustment by fraud or by willfully misrepresenting a 

material fact, namely that he represented that he was born in Cuba and that he had never given 

false or misleading information to any U.S. government official when applying for an 

immigration benefit.  8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(6)(C)(i). 

69. Because Defendant was not qualified for permanent resident status, he did not 

lawfully adjust status to permanent resident. 
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70. Because Defendant was not lawfully admitted for permanent residence, he was 

and remains ineligible for naturalization under 8 U.S.C. §§ 1427(a)(1) and 1429. 

71. Because he was ineligible to naturalize, Defendant illegally procured his 

naturalization, and this Court must revoke his naturalization as a U.S. citizen under 8 U.S.C. 

§ 1451(a). 

COUNT II 
ILLEGAL PROCUREMENT OF NATURALIZATION 

(Lack of Good Moral Character – False Testimony) 

72. Defendant was required to establish that he was a person of good moral 

character from June 15, 2004, five years before he filed his naturalization application, until 

the date he became a U.S. citizen on September 25, 2009 (the “statutory period”).  8 U.S.C. 

§ 1427(a); 8 C.F.R. § 316.10(a)(1).  

73. Defendant was statutorily barred from showing that he was a person of good 

moral character during the statutory period because he gave false testimony, under oath, on 

three different occasions for the purpose of obtaining immigration benefits.  8 U.S.C. 

§ 1101(f)(6). 

74. First, as alleged in Paragraphs 13 and 14, Defendant testified falsely for the 

purpose of obtaining an immigration benefit when he testified, under oath, during his April 

20, 2006 interview on his first Form I-485 that he was born in Cuba. 

75. Defendant’s testimony was false because he was born in Argentina, and not 

in Cuba. 

76. Second, as alleged in Paragraphs 23 and 24, Defendant testified falsely for 

the purpose of obtaining an immigration benefit when he testified, under oath, during his 

July 30, 2007 interview on his second Form I-485, that he had never, by fraud or willful 
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misrepresentation of a material fact, ever sought to procure, or procured, a visa, other 

documentation, entry into the United States, or any other immigration benefit.  

77. Defendant’s testimony was false because he testified, under oath, during his 

April 20, 2006 interview on his first Form I-485, that he was born in Cuba when, in fact, he 

was born in Argentina. 

78. The fact that he was not born in Argentina and not in Cuba was material 

because an applicant for adjustment under the Cuban Adjustment Act must be a native or 

citizen of Cuba, married to a Cuban national, or the child of a Cuban national. 

79. Third, as alleged in Paragraphs 34 and 35, Defendant testified falsely for the 

purpose of obtaining an immigration benefit when he testified, under oath, during his 

September 21, 2009 interview on his naturalization application, that he had never given 

false or misleading information to any U.S. government official while applying for any 

immigration benefit or to prevent deportation, exclusion, or removal. 

80. As alleged in Paragraphs 74 through 77, Defendant’s testimony in his 

naturalization interview was false, because he provided false testimony during his April 20, 

2006 interview on his first Form I-485 and during his July 30, 2007 interview on his second 

Form I-485. 

81. Because Defendant provided false testimony under oath for the purpose of 

obtaining immigration benefits during the statutory period, he was barred under 8 U.S.C. 

§ 1101(f)(6) from showing that he had the good moral character necessary to become a 

naturalized U.S. citizen. 

82. Because Defendant could not establish the requisite good moral character 

under 8 U.S.C. § 1427(a)(3), he was ineligible for naturalization. 
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83. Because Defendant was ineligible to naturalize, he illegally procured his 

naturalization, and this Court must revoke his naturalization as a U.S. citizen under 8 U.S.C. 

§ 1451(a). 

COUNT III 
PROCUREMENT OF U.S. CITIZENSHIP BY 

CONCEALMENT OF A MATERIAL FACT OR 
WILLFUL MISREPRESENTATION 

84. Under 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a), this Court must revoke and set aside the order 

admitting Defendant to citizenship and cancel his Certificate of Naturalization because he 

procured his naturalization by concealment of a material fact or by willful 

misrepresentation. 

85. As alleged in Paragraphs 27 to 30, during the naturalization process 

Defendant willfully misrepresented and concealed the fact that he was born in and was a 

native of Argentina, not Cuba. 

86. As alleged in Paragraphs 31, 32, and 66, during the naturalization process 

Defendant willfully misrepresented and concealed that fact that he had given false or 

misleading information to U.S. government officials while applying for immigration 

benefits or to prevent deportation, exclusion, or removal, namely that he provided false 

information about his place of birth. 

87. Defendant made the misrepresentations and concealments voluntarily and 

despite knowing that such representations were false and misleading.  Accordingly, 

Defendant made these representations willfully.  

88. At no point during the naturalization process did Defendant disclose that he 

was born in and was a native of Argentina, and not Cuba; or that he had given false or 
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misleading information to U.S. government officials while applying for immigration 

benefits or to prevent deportation, exclusion, or removal. 

89. Defendant’s misrepresentations and concealments were material to his 

naturalization application, because each would have had a natural tendency to influence 

USCIS’s decision whether to approve his naturalization application.  Indeed, if USCIS had 

known that Defendant was born in Argentina, his naturalization application would have 

been denied for failure to lawfully adjust status to permanent resident. 

90. Defendant therefore procured his naturalization by concealment of material 

facts and willful misrepresentations, and this Court must revoke his naturalization as a U.S. 

citizen under 8 U.S.C. § 1451(a). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the United States of America respectfully requests: 

(1) A declaration that Defendant illegally procured his U.S. citizenship; 

(2) A declaration that Defendant procured his U.S. citizenship by concealment of 

material facts and by willful misrepresentation; 

(3) Judgment revoking and setting aside the order admitting Defendant to 

citizenship and canceling Certificate of Naturalization No. 32489275, effective as of the 

original date of the order and certificate, September 25, 2009. 

(4) Judgment forever restraining and enjoining Defendant from claiming any 

rights, privileges, benefits, or advantages related to U.S. citizenship that he obtained as a 

result of his September 25, 2009 naturalization; 

(5) Judgment requiring the Defendant to surrender and deliver, within ten days 

of entry of Judgment, his Certificate of Naturalization, as well as any copies thereof in his 
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possession or control—and to make good faith efforts to recover and then surrender any 

copies thereof that he knows are in the possession or control of others—to the Attorney 

General, or his representative, including the undersigned; 

(6) Judgment requiring the Defendant to immediately surrender and deliver, 

within ten days of entry of Judgment, any other indicia of U.S. citizenship, including, but 

not limited to, U.S. passports (whether valid or expired), U.S. passport cards (whether valid 

or expired), and Enhanced Driver’s Licenses (whether valid or expired), as well as any 

copies thereof in his possession or control—and to make good faith efforts to recover and 

then surrender any copies thereof that he knows are in the possession or control of others— 

to the Attorney General, or her representative, including the undersigned; and 

(7) Judgment granting the United States any other relief that may be lawful and 

proper in this case. 
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Dated: September 9, 2025 Respectfully submitted, 

GREGORY W. KEHOE BRETT A. SHUMATE 
United States Attorney 
Middle District of Florida 

Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Division 

JENNIFER J. KEENEY 
Associate Director, Enforcement Unit 
General Litigation and Appeals Section 
Office of Immigration Litigation 

JOHN J. W. INKELES 
Chief, Affirmative Litigation Unit 

J. MAX WEINTRAUB 
Senior Litigation Counsel 
Affirmative Litigation Unit 

/s/ Troy Liggett 
TROY LIGGETT 
Florida Bar No. 086788 
Senior Trial Attorney 
Affirmative Litigation Unit 
General Litigation and Appeals Section 
Office of Immigration Litigation 
United States Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 878, Ben Franklin Station 
Washington, DC 20044 
(202) 532-4765 
troy.liggett@usdoj.gov 

Attorneys for the United States of 
America 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 

CASE NO. 6:25-cv-1737 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLINI, 
a/k/a Fernando Adrian Moio, 
a/k/a Fernando Adrian Moio Bartollini, 

Defendant. 
/ 

EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF 
COMPLAINT TO REVOKE NATURALIZATION 

A. Affidavit of Good Cause of Max Duarte, Immigration Officer, Fraud Detention and 
National Security Directorate, U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security (Sept. 4, 2025) 

B. Argentinian Birth Certificate with Certified English Translation 

C. Form I-485, Application to Register Permanent Resident or Adjust Status (June 2, 
2005) 

D. Form I-485, Application to Register Permanent Resident or Adjust Status (Oct. 29, 
2006) 

E. Form N-400, Application for Naturalization (June 15, 2009) 

F. Certificate of Naturalization No. 32489275 (Sept. 25, 2009) 

G. Form I-867A, Record of Sworn Statement in Proceedings under Section 235(b)(1) of 
the Act (June 13, 2013) 

H. Indictment, United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD (S.D. Fla. June 
28, 2013), ECF No. 7 

I. Change of Plea Minutes, United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD 
(S.D. Fla. Aug. 1, 2013), ECF No. 15 
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J. Factual Proffer, United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD (S.D. Fla. 
Aug. 1, 2013), ECF No. 17 

K. Change of Plea Hr’g Tr., United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD 
(S.D. Fla. Aug. 1, 2013), ECF No. 24 

L. Judgment, United States v. Bartollini, No. 13-20475-CR-LENARD (S.D. Fla. Aug. 
23, 2013), ECF No. 23 
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[handwritten text is indicated in italics] 

MINISTRY OF THE [CABINET CHIEF OF MINISTERS] 
OFFICE OF THE CIVIL REGISTRY 

OF THE PROVINCE OF BUENOS AIRES 
CERTIFICATE EXEMPT FROM STAMP DUTY 
I CERTIFY that this is a copy of the original record drawn up in the respective Book of the General Protocol 
Archive Department of the Civil Registry of the Province of Buenos Aires. It is issued on plain paper and 
solely for the purpose of being submitted for the following procedures: a) To obtain a National Identity 
Document; b) To file a claim for a work accident; c) To process retirements and pensions; d) For school 
enrollment; e) For State workers included in the family salary benefits; f) For adoptions; g) For child 
custody; h) To transport bodies and remains. 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF ART. 291 SEC. 4) OF LAW 13.731 (TAX CODE). 

[stamp:] 09 MAY 2013 
All legalization procedures in the Province of Buenos Aires are fulfilled in this document (Law 8946). 

[stamp:] 
PROVINCE OF BUENOS AIRES 

ISSUANCE AND CERTIFICATIONS DIVISION 
PROVINCIAL DIRECTORATE OF THE CIVIL REGISTRY 

[signature] 
[stamp:] Miguel A. Mosquera 

Interim Head of the Archive Department 
General Protocols 
Provision 1653/12 

[illegible] MOIO [illegible] 88 
[Fernando A.] RECORD No. 349-[IA]. In [Quilmes], District of [Quilmes], 

Province of Buenos Aires, on February 26, 1975. Before me, [illegible] 

Delegate, Mr. Gabriel Ernesto Moio 

nineteen seventy-five, at 9:45 p.m., at [illegible] 128, [Quilmes], 
A child of male sex WAS BORN, verified by Dr. 
[illegible], and was given the name Fernando Adrian 

ID No. 8529607 Domiciled at [J. Molinas 652] [illegible] 
DECLARES: That on the day of , year 

LAST NAME: Moio father: the declarant 
ID No.:  mother: [illegible] 

Felice BERTOLINI ID No. 3PP8P25 
Health Record No. 59084P Identification File No. 2443P14P 
Having read this record, they sign with me: [signature] 

[signature] [signature] 
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CERTIFICATION 

I, Meredith Veto, hereby certify that I am competent to translate from Spanish to English and 
that the attached translation is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, a true and accurate 
translation. 

• Birth Certificate of Fernando Adrian Moio 

I hereby declare that all statements made herein of my own knowledge are true, and that all 
statements made on information and belief are believed to be true; and that these statements 
were made with the knowledge that willful false statements and the like so made are 
punishable by fine or imprisonment, or both, under Section 1001 of Title 18 of the United 
States Code. 

Meredith Veto 
PRINTED LINGUIST NAME 

LINGUIST SIGNATURE 

June 9, 2025 

Date: 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA CASE NO. 13-20475-CR-LENARD 

CHANGE OF PLEA MINUTES 

vs. 

FERNANDO ADRIAN BARTOLINI, 

/ 

On August 1, 2013 the above named defendant appeared in person before the 

Honorable Joan A. Lenard, United States District Judge, with Frank Gaviria counsel 

appointed by the Court/retained by the defendant, and said defendant stated in open court that he 

desired to withdraw the plea of not guilty heretofore entered and desired to enter a plea of guilty as 

to Count 1 of the Indictment. 

After the defendant was duly sworn, the Court made inquiry as to guilt. The Court, being 

satisfied there was a factual basis for the plea, accepted the plea of guilty and found the defendant 

guilty as charged. Whereupon: 

( ) The Court Arraigned the defendant on the Superseding Indictment. 

( ) The Court proceeded to pronounce sentence. (See J&C) 

(X) The Court postponed sentencing August 23, 2013 at 2:30 pm. 

() The defendant being allowed to remain on bond until sentencing. 

() Modifications of Conditions of Release:. 

() The defendant being remanded to the custody of the U.S. Marshal until a 

______________ bond in the amount of $____________ is approved and posted. 

(X) The defendant being surrendered/remanded to the custody of the U.S. Marshal 

awaiting sentencing. 

Judge Joan A. Lenard AUSA: Diane Patrick 

Court Reporter Lisa Edwards Interpreter: Spanish 

Courtroom Deputy Patricia Mitchell Time: 10:50am-11:10am 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 
CASE NO. 13-20475-CRIMINAL-LENARD 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Miami, Florida 

Plaintiff, August 1, 2013 

vs. 10:54 a.m. to 11:15 a.m. 

FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO 
BARTOLLINI, 

Defendant. Pages 1 to 19 

CHANGE OF PLEA 
BEFORE THE HONORABLE JOAN A. LENARD, 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 

APPEARANCES: 

FOR THE GOVERNMENT: DIANE PATRICK, ESQ. 
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 
99 Northeast Fourth Street 
Miami, Florida 33132 

FOR THE DEFENDANT: FRANK J. GAVIRIA, ESQ. 
FRANK J. GAVIRIA, P.A. 
14 Northeast First Avenue 
Suite 300 
Miami, Florida 33132 

REPORTED BY: LISA EDWARDS, RDR, CRR 
Reporterlisaedwards@gmail.com
(305) 439-7168 

mailto:Reporterlisaedwards@gmail.com


 

          

      

         

      

        

   

          

      

     

          

     

     

          

         

  

     

           

           

     

       

      

          

       

      

         

2 
Case 6:25-cv-01737 Document 1-11 Filed 09/09/25 Page 3 of 20 PageID 80 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: Good morning. You may be seated. 

MR. GAVIRIA: Good morning. 

THE COURT: United States of America versus Fernando 

Adrian Moio Bartollini, Case No. 13-20475. 

Good morning, counsel. State your appearances, please, 

for the record. 

on 

MS. PATRICK: Good morning, your Honor. Diane Patrick 

behalf of the United States. 

on 

THE COURT: Good morning. 

MR. GAVIRIA: Good morning, your Honor. Frank Gaviria 

behalf of Mr. Bartollini. 

THE COURT: Good morning. 

Thank you for accommodating the Court. We had a 

two-day sentencing hearing, so I appreciate your cooperation in 

rescheduling this. 

MR. GAVIRIA: No problem. 

THE COURT: The Defendant is present and using the aid 

of the Spanish-language interpreter. He is here for a change 

of plea. Correct? 

MR. GAVIRIA: That's correct, your Honor. 

MS. PATRICK: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: And is there a plea agreement? 

MS. PATRICK: No, your Honor. 

MR. GAVIRIA: No, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Place the Defendant under oath, please. 
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(Whereupon, the Defendant was duly sworn.) 

THE COURT: You may be seated, sir. 

Do you understand that you are now under oath and if 

you answer any of my questions falsely, your answers may later 

be used against you in another prosecution for perjury or for 

making a false statement? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: What is your full name? 

THE DEFENDANT: Fernando Adrian Moio Bartollini. 

THE COURT: Have you been known by any other name or 

names? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: What is your age? 

THE DEFENDANT: I'm 38. 

THE COURT: Could you explain your education? What was 

the last grade you completed in school? 

THE DEFENDANT: High school. I completed high school. 

THE COURT: Are you currently under the influence of 

any drug or medication or alcoholic beverage? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Within the last 24 hours, have you used any 

drug, medication or alcoholic beverage? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Have you recently been under the care of a 

doctor or a psychiatrist? 
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THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Have you recently been hospitalized for any 

reason, including the use of narcotics, medicine, drugs or 

alcohol? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. No. 

THE COURT: The ability to understand the charge 

brought against you, has that ability been affected at any time 

by the use of any drug, medication or alcoholic beverage? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: The ability to understand the explanations 

and advice given to you by your lawyer, has that ability been 

affected at any time by the use of any drug, medication or 

alcoholic beverage? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Have you read a copy of the indictment, 

which sets forth the written charge made against you in this 

case, or was it read to you? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that you have the right 

to plead not guilty to any offense charged against you and to 

persist in that plea? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that you would then have 

the right to a trial by jury in which you would be assisted by 

a lawyer in your defense and at which you would have the right 
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to see and hear all of the witnesses who would testify against 

you and have them cross-examined in your defense? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that at a trial, the 

Government cannot force you to testify unless you voluntarily 

do so in your own defense? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that, should you decide 

not to testify at trial or put on any evidence at trial, that 

these facts cannot be used against you at trial? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that the decision to 

testify or not testify at trial is your decision and your 

decision alone? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that you would have the 

right to have subpoenas issued to witnesses to compel them to 

attend the trial and testify on your behalf? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that the Government would 

have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt at trial the essential 

elements of the offense charged against you? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: And do you also understand that all 12 

jurors must unanimously agree before a finding of guilty could 
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be made? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that if you were 

convicted at trial, you would have the right to appeal my 

rulings at trial and your conviction? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you further understand that if you enter 

a plea of guilty and if I accept your plea of guilty, there 

will be no trial and you will have waived or given up your 

right to a trial as well as the various rights associated with 

the trial I've just described? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: You are charged by indictment that on or 

about June 12th, 2013, at Miami International Airport in 

Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, the 

Defendant, Fernando Adrian Moio Bartollini, did willfully and 

knowingly use and attempt to use a United States passport, the 

issuance of which was secured by reason of a false statement, 

in that the Defendant represented that he was born in Cuba, 

when in truth and in fact and as the Defendant then and there 

well knew, he was not born in Cuba, in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1542. 

Would counsel for the Government make a representation 

concerning the facts the Government is prepared to prove at 

trial, please. 
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MS. PATRICK: Certainly, your Honor. 

Had this case proceeded to trial, the United States 

would have proven the following facts beyond a reasonable doubt 

in relationship to a violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 1542: 

On June 12, 2013, the Defendant arrived at Miami 

International Airport in the Southern District of Florida 

aboard American Airlines Flight 928 from Medellin, Colombia. 

The Defendant presented a US passport bearing his own name, 

photograph and date of birth to US Customs and Border 

Protection officers for entry into the United States. The 

Defendant was referred to secondary inspection for possible 

passport fraud. 

In secondary inspection, computer database systems were 

queried and the Defendant's passport, which indicated his place 

of birth as Cuba, was examined. The officer asked basic 

biographical questions of the Defendant and became aware that 

the Defendant had an Argentinian accent and was unfamiliar with 

locations in Cuba. 

A search of the immigration records disclosed that the 

Defendant had previously applied for a student visa and had 

listed Argentina as his place of birth. That application was 

denied on November 8, 2000. However, the Defendant was able to 

enter the United States on November 18, 2000, under the visa 

waiver program for Argentina. 
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subsequently availed himself of the Cuban Adjustment Act and 

applied for legal permanent resident status on May 9, 2005, 

which was denied on April 2nd, 2006, for failure to provide 

sufficient evidence of his Cuban birth and nationality either 

through a birth certificate or Cuban passport. 

Thereafter, the Defendant obtained a Cuban passport in 

his name on August 1, 2006, which expired July 31, 2012. He 

then reapplied for LPR status on October 11, 2006, and provided 

his newly acquired Cuban passport and a Cuban birth certificate 

in his name. 

This application, substantiated by the documents, was 

approved on July 30, 2007, and the Defendant was able to 

successfully adjust has status to LPR. 

Subsequent records also showed that on April 24, 2009, 

the Defendant applied for US citizenship. An attorney 

appearance form was filed on that date and accompanied the 

Defendant's written application. 

On September 21, 2009, the Defendant took his 

citizenship exam, which he passed. This resulted in the 

issuance of a certificate of naturalization on September 25, 

2009. The Defendant then proceeded to use his newly acquired 

citizenship status as the basis for his application and request 

for a United States passport, which was issued on September 28, 

2009. CBP officers obtained a copy of the Defendant's passport 



 

         

              

  

       

        

    

        

          

            

           

           

           

          

         

         

           

    

     

          

  

       

            

    

       

          

9 
Case 6:25-cv-01737 Document 1-11 Filed 09/09/25 Page 10 of 20 PageID 87 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

application and saw that the Defendant had falsely represented 

that he was born in Cuba, whereas in fact he had been born in 

Argentina. 

At trial, the Government would produce the 

above-mentioned documents, including a certified copy of the 

Defendant's Argentinian birth certificate. 

The Defendant provided a sworn statement to CBP 

officers and indicated that he obtained a false Cuban birth 

certificate in 2004 by paying $5,000 to a Cuban lady in Miami 

Lakes. The Defendant then described how he used that birth 

certificate to apply for US residency, LPR status. He also 

stated that in 2009 he obtained a US passport utilizing his 

United States residency and that he falsely stated his birth 

place as Cuba throughout the process of acquiring his 

naturalization and his US passport. The Defendant also 

admitted that he knew it was illegal to make false statements 

on his passport application. 

Thank you, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Do you understand the charge against you, 

sir? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you admit or not admit the facts as 

stated by the prosecutor? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I admit. 

THE COURT: Is this your signature on the written 
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factual proffer? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. That's my signature. 

THE COURT: Did you read the written factual proffer 

before you signed it or was it read to you before you signed 

it? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. My attorney read it to me. 

THE COURT: Did you fully discuss the written factual 

proffer with your attorney before you signed it? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Did you understand the written factual 

proffer before you signed it? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did. 

THE COURT: Did you sign the written factual proffer 

freely and voluntarily? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you have any deletions or corrections to 

what was stated in open court or what's contained in the 

written factual proffer? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: How do you wish to plead to the one-count 

indictment: guilty or not guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty. 

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty because you are 

guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I am guilty. 
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THE COURT: Do you understand that the maximum possible 

penalty of confinement provided by law for the offense to which 

you plead guilty is ten years' imprisonment? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: In addition, following a term of 

imprisonment, the Court may impose a term of supervised 

release. Such term of supervised release shall commence upon 

release from imprisonment. 

The maximum amount of time in supervised release in 

this matter is three years. Do you understand that as well? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that if you violate the 

conditions of supervised release, you can be given additional 

time in prison? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: The maximum fine that may be imposed 

against you for this offense is up to $250,000. The Court may 

sentence you to serve a sentence of confinement and also assess 

a fine against you. 

Do you understand that as well? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: In addition to the penalties of confinement 

and fines, you may be ordered to make restitution and you will 

be required to pay a special assessment of $100. 

Do you understand that as well? 
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that the offense to which 

you plead guilty is a felony offense? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that if your plea of 

guilty is accepted, you will be adjudicated guilty of that 

offense? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that if you are a 

naturalized citizen and this offense was committed before or 

during the pendency of your citizenship application, that such 

adjudication may result in the loss of your status as a United 

States citizen and/or further immigration consequences, 

including removal from the United States? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that as a result of an 

adjudication in this matter, it may result in the loss of your 

status as a United States citizen and subsequent removal from 

the United States? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Have you discussed these consequences with 

your attorney, including denaturalization and subsequent 

removal? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: And are you satisfied with his services? 
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that the provisions of 

the sentencing guidelines promulgated by the United States 

Sentencing Commission will advise the Court in this matter? 

THE DEFENDANT: Could you repeat that, please? 

THE COURT: Sure. 

Do you understand that the provisions of the sentencing 

guidelines promulgated by the United States Sentencing 

Commission will advise the Court in this matter? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Have you and your attorney talked about how 

the sentencing guidelines might apply to your case? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that the Court will not 

be able to determine the advisory guideline range for your 

sentence until after the advisory presentence investigation 

report has been completed and you and the Government have had 

the opportunity to challenge the reported facts and the 

application of the guidelines as recommended by the probation 

officer? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that the Court will 

consider all of the sentencing factors provided by law, 

including the sentencing guidelines? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 



 

         

            

       

       

          

           

  

       

          

            

    

       

         

          

       

     

           

   

     

          

     

     

          

       

    

14 
Case 6:25-cv-01737 Document 1-11 Filed 09/09/25 Page 15 of 20 PageID 92 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

THE COURT: Do you understand that after considering 

all of those factors, the Court will impose a sentence it finds 

appropriate, up to the statutory maximum? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that the sentence imposed 

may be different from any estimate your attorney may have given 

you? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that parole has been 

abolished and that if you are sentenced to prison, you will not 

be released on parole? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. I understand. 

THE COURT: Do you understand that under some 

circumstances, you or the Government may have the right to 

appeal any sentence that I impose? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Is your plea of guilty being made freely 

and voluntarily? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Has anyone forced or threatened you or 

coerced you to plead guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Has anyone made any representations to you 

to convince you to plead guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 
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THE COURT: Are you satisfied with your attorney? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Have you had adequate time to fully confer 

with your attorney and he with you about this charge, these 

proceedings and all matters relating to this charge? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Mr. Gaviria -- did I say your name right? 

The. 

MR. GAVIRIA: Perfect, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Is this your signature on the written 

factual proffer? 

MR. GAVIRIA: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: And, Ms. Patrick, your signature as well? 

MS. PATRICK: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Gaviria, are you satisfied that 

pleading guilty to the charge is in the best interest of your 

client, considering all the circumstances in this case? 

MR. GAVIRIA: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: And do you feel there would be sufficient 

evidence upon which to convict the Defendant of this charge? 

MR. GAVIRIA: Yes, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Mr. Moio Bartollini, do you have any 

questions, sir, about the possible consequences of your plea of 

guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 
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THE COURT: Do you understand fully all of the possible 

consequences of your plea of guilty? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: It is the finding of the Court in the case 

of the United States of America versus Fernando Adrian Moio 

Bartollini that the Defendant is fully competent and capable of 

entering an informed plea; that the Defendant is aware of the 

nature of the charge and the consequences of the plea; and that 

the plea of guilty is a knowing and voluntary plea supported by 

an independent basis in fact containing each of the essential 

elements of the offense. 

The plea is therefore accepted and the Defendant is now 

adjudicated guilty of the indictment. 

A written advisory presentence investigation report 

will now be prepared by the probation office to assist the 

Court in sentencing. You will be asked, sir, to give 

information for the report and your attorney may be present if 

you wish. The Court shall permit the Defendant and counsel to 

read the advisory presentence investigation report and file any 

objections to the report before the sentencing hearing. The 

Defendant and his counsel shall be afforded the opportunity to 

speak on behalf of the Defendant at the sentencing hearing. 

At this time, I'm going to refer the Defendant to the 

probation office for an advisory presentence investigation 

report. He's to be remanded to the Bureau of Prisons pending a 
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sentencing date and time which Patricia will give to us now. 

MR. GAVIRIA: Judge, we were hoping to request an 

expedited PSI. 

THE COURT: You're going to need to contact Probation. 

Probably the soonest that I can give you one is in September or 

the end of August, because I'm out of the district for the next 

few weeks. 

MR. GAVIRIA: The quickest date would be the best, your 

Honor, that we could arrange. 

MS. PATRICK: The Government has no objection to that. 

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: September 23rd at 3:00 p.m. 

THE COURT: If anything opens up before that, we'll --

MR. GAVIRIA: Something will open up, we hope. Thank 

you, your Honor. 

THE COURT: Sometimes if I don't have any trials --

which I don't know if that's going to happen; I'm pretty busy 

come end of August, beginning of September -- but I may have 

some additional time. Is that not a good date for you? 

MS. PATRICK: I'm sorry, your Honor. It was September 

23 at 3:00 p.m.? 

THE COURTROOM DEPUTY: Yes. 

MS. PATRICK: Thank you. 

THE COURT: You can check with Patricia, if you want. 

Usually the procedure is that you're supposed to go to 

Probation first before you ask me. But that's okay. We set it 
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1 ahead of the 70-day period. I'm going to leave it to you to go 

2 to Probation --

3 MR. GAVIRIA: I will. 

4 THE COURT: -- to request the report. 

5 Once you have a date from them as to when they think 

6 they'll be able to finish an expedited report, I suggest that 

7 you check in with Patricia. 

8 MR. GAVIRIA: I will. 

9 THE COURT: Sometimes things get canceled or, you 

10 know -- but I'm sure she'll make a note of your case and try 

11 and move you if we can. 

12 MR. GAVIRIA: Thank you, your Honor. 

13 THE COURT: Any other issues or matters the Court needs 

14 to take up in regard to this case at this time? 

15 MR. GAVIRIA: No, your Honor. 

16 MS. PATRICK: Nothing else, your Honor. Thank you so 

17 much. 

18 THE COURT: Thank you. Nice to see you. 

19 MS. PATRICK: Thank you. Good to see you, too, your 

20 Honor. 

21 THE COURT: We're in recess in this matter. 

22 (Proceedings concluded.) 

23 

24 

25 
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I hereby certify that the foregoing is an 

accurate transcription of the proceedings in the 

above-entitled matter produced to the best of my ability. 

____________ /s/Lisa Edwards 
DATE LISA EDWARDS, RDR, CRR 

(305) 439-7168 
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United States District Court 
Southern District of Florida 

MIAMI DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 

v. Case Number - 1:13-20475-CR-LENARD-1 

FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLLINI 
USM Number: 01631-104 

Counsel For Defendant: Frank Gaviria 
Counsel For The United States: Diane Patrick 
Court Reporter: Lisa Edwards 

The defendant pleaded guilty to Count(s) 1 of the Indictment. 

The defendant is adjudicated guilty of the following offense(s): 

TITLE/SECTION 

NUM BER 

NATURE OF 

OFFENSE OFFENSE ENDED COUNT 

18 U.S.C. § 1542 False Statement in 

Application and Use of 

June 12, 2013 1 

Passport 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in the following pages of this judgment.  The sentence is imposed pursuant to the 

Sentencing Reform Act of 1984. 

It is ordered that the defendant must notify the United States attorney for this district within 30 days of any change of name, 

residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs and special assessments imposed by this judgment are fully paid. 

If ordered to pay restitution, the defendant must notify the court and United States attorney of any material changes in economic 

circumstances. 

Date of Imposition of Sentence: 

August 23, 2013 

________________________________ 

JOAN A. LENARD 

United States District Judge 

August 23, 2013   
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DEFENDANT: FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLLINI 

CASE NUMBER: 1:13-20475-CR-LENARD-1 

IMPRISONMENT

 The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the United States Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a term 

of time served. 

The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

RETURN 

I have executed this judgment as follows: 

Defendant delivered on ____________________ to _________________________________

 at _____________________________________________, with a certified copy of this judgment. 

UNITED STATES MARSHAL  

By:__________________________________ 
Deputy U.S. Marshal  



 

     

  

  

 

  

    

       

   

Case 6:25-cv-01737 Document 1-12 Filed 09/09/25 Page 4 of 7 PageID 101Case 1:13-cr-20475 JAL  Document 23 Entered on FLSD Docket 08/23/2013 Page 3 of 6 
USDC FLSD 245B (Rev. 09/08) - Judgment in a Criminal Case Page 3 of  6 

DEFENDANT: FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLLINI 

CASE NUMBER: 1:13-20475-CR-LENARD-1 

SUPERVISED RELEASE 

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release for a term of 1 year. 

The defendant must report to the probation office in the district to which the defendant is released within 48 hours of release from 

the custody of the Bureau of Prisons. 

The defendant shall not commit another federal, state or local crime. 

The defendant shall not unlawfully possess a controlled substance.  The defendant shall refrain from any unlawful use of a 

controlled substance.  The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 15 days of release from imprisonment and at least two 

periodic drug tests thereafter, as determined by the court. 

The defendant shall not possess a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, or any other dangerous weapon. 

The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of DNA as directed by the probation officer. 

If this judgment imposes a fine or a restitution, it is a condition of supervised release that the defendant pay in accordance 

with the Schedule of Payments sheet of this judgment. 

The defendant must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as any additional 

conditions on the attached page. 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

1. The defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the permission of the court or probation officer; 

2. The defendant shall report to the probation officer within the first fifteen (15) days of every month; 

3. The defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer; 

4. The defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other family responsibilities; 

5. The defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation, unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training, or other acceptable 

reasons; 

6. The defendant shall notify the probation officer at least ten (10) days prior to any change in residence or employment; 

7. The defendant shall refrain from the excessive use of alcohol and shall not purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any controlled 

substance or any paraphernalia related to any controlled substances, except as prescribed by a physician; 

8. The defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are illegally sold, used, distributed, or administered; 

9. The defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal activity and shall not associate with any person convicted of a felony, 

unless granted permission to do so by the probation officer; 

10. The defendant shall permit a probation officer to visit him or her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscation of any 

contraband observed in plain view by the probation officer; 

11. The defendant shall notify the probation officer within forty-eight (48) hours of being arrested or questioned by a law enforcement officer; 

12. The defendant shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without the permission 

of the court; and 

13. As directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third parties of risks that may be occasioned by the defendant’s criminal record 

or personal history or characteristics and shall permit the probation officer to make such notifications and to confirm the defendant’s 

compliance with such notification requirement. 
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DEFENDANT: FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLLINI 

CASE NUMBER: 1:13-20475-CR-LENARD-1 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

The defendant shall also comply with the following additional conditions of supervised release:  

Surrendering to Immigration for Removal After Imprisonment - At the completion of the defendant’s term of imprisonment, 

the defendant shall be surrendered to the custody of the U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement for removal proceedings 

consistent with the Immigration and Nationality Act.  If removed, or the defendant voluntarily leaves the United States, shall not 

reenter the United States without the prior written permission of the Secretary of Homeland Security. The term of supervised 

release shall be non-reporting while the defendant is residing outside the United States. If the defendant reenters the United States 

within the term of supervised release, the defendant is to report to the nearest U.S. Probation Office within 48 hours of the 

defendant’s arrival. 



Case 6:25-cv-01737 Document 1-12 Filed 09/09/25 Page 6 of 7 PageID 103Case 1:13-cr-20475 JAL  Document 23 Entered on FLSD Docket 08/23/2013 Page 5 of 6 
USDC FLSD 245B (Rev. 09/08) - Judgment in a Criminal Case Page 5 of  6 

DEFENDANT: FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLLINI 

CASE NUMBER: 1:13-20475-CR-LENARD-1 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

The defendant must pay the total criminal monetary penalties under the schedule of payments on the Schedule of 

Payments sheet. 

Total Assessment Total Fine Total Restitution 

$100 $ $ 

*Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, 110A, and 113A of Title 18, United States Code, for offenses committed on 
or after September 13, 1994, but before April 23, 1996. 
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DEFENDANT: FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLLINI 

CASE NUMBER: 1:13-20475-CR-LENARD-1 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Having assessed the defendant’s ability to pay, payment of the total criminal monetary penalties are due as follows:

 A.  Lump sum payment of $100 due immediately, balance due 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise, if this judgment imposes imprisonment, payment of criminal monetary penalties 

is due during imprisonment.  All criminal monetary penalties, except those payments made through the Federal Bureau of Prisons’ 

Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, are made to the clerk of the court. 

The defendant shall receive credit for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

The assessment/fine/restitution is payable to the CLERK, UNITED STATES COURTS and is to be addressed to:

 U.S. CLERK’S OFFICE

 ATTN: FINANCIAL SECTION

 400 NORTH MIAMI AVENUE, ROOM 8N09

 MIAMI, FLORIDA 33128-7716 

The assessment/fine/restitution is payable immediately.  The U.S. Bureau of Prisons, U.S. Probation Office and the U.S. 

Attorney’s Office are responsible for the enforcement of this order. 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment, (2) restitution principal, (3) restitution interest, (4) fine principal, 

(5) fine interest, (6) community restitution,(7) penalties, and (8) costs, including cost of prosecution and court costs. 
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44 

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet 

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as 
required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is 
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of 
Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows: 

I.(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use 
only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then 
the official, giving both name and title. 
County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the 
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land 
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.) 
Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting 
in this section "(see attachment)". 

II. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" 
in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below. 
United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. 
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box. 
Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment 
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes 
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked. 
Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the 
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity 
cases.) 

III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this 
section for each principal party. 

IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code 
that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions. 

V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes. 
Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts. 
Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. 
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing 
date. 
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. 
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or 
multidistrict litigation transfers. 
Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. 
Section 1407. 
Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket. 
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to 
changes in statute. 

VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional 
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service. 

VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. 
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. 
Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded. 

VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related cases, if any. If there are related cases, insert the docket 
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases. 

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

ORLANDO DIVISION 

) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) 

) 
Plaintiff, ) 

) 
v. ) 

) Civil Action No. 6:25-cv-1737 
FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLINI, ) 
a/k/a Fernando Adrian Moio, ) 
a/k/a Fernando Adrian Moio Bartollini, ) 

) 
Defendant. ) 

) 

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION TO REVOKE NATURALIZATION 

TO: FERNANDO ADRIAN MOIO BARTOLINI 
5425 Walsh Pond Court 
Windermere, FL 34786 

A lawsuit has been filed against you. 

Under 8 U.S.C. § 1451(b), within 60 days after service of this summons on you (not 
counting the day you received it), you must serve on the Plaintiff an answer to the attached 
complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or 
motion must be served on the Plaintiff’s attorney, whose name and address are: 

Troy D. Liggett 
U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Division 
Office of Immigration Litigation 
General Litigation and Appeals Section 
P.O. Box 878, Ben Franklin Station 
Washington, DC 20044 

If you fail to respond, Plaintiff may move the Court for judgment against you for the 
relief demanded in the complaint.  You also must file your answer or motion with the court. 

Date: _____________________ CLERK OF COURT 

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk 
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Civil Action No. 6:25-cv-1737 

PROOF OF SERVICE 

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any) ___________________________ 

was received by me on (date) _______________________. 

□ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place) ____________________ 

______________________________________ on (date) ______________________; or 

□ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name) 

________________________________________, a person of suitable age and discretion 

who resides there, on (date) ______________________, and mailed a copy to the 

individual’s last known address; or 

□ I served the summons on (name of individual) _______________________________, 

who is designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization) 

_______________________________________ on (date) ______________________; or 

□ I returned the summons unexecuted because _______________________________; or 

□  Other (specify): 

My fees are $ ________ for travel and $ ________ for services, for a total of _________. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true. 

Date: _____________________ __________________________________ 
Server’s signature 

Printed name and title 

Server’s address 

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: 
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